1984

**Haggis Management, Inc. v. Turtle Management, Inc., Jeffrey Meacham, Stephen Mccaughey And Dan Lee Briggs : Brief of Plaintiff Appellant**

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action to collect approximately \$137,000.00 due on a promissory note executed in conjunction with the sale of a private club in Salt Lake City, Utah. In September of 1981, judgment was entered against defendant Turtle Management, Inc., which subsequently filed for protection under the Bankruptcy Act. The action then continued against the individual defendants who had executed a guarantee of the promissory note. After the default and bankruptcy of the principal debtor, Turtle Management, Inc., the Plaintiff retook possession of the business and later sold it to a third entity. In conjunction with the original sale, Plaintiff-Appellant retained a security interest in some of the

personal property located on the business premises. The central issue is whether as a matter of law, the Plaintiff's disposition of this collateral was commercially reasonable and if not, whether the disposition should bar the Plaintiff from any recovery under the original promissory note, irrespective of the value of the collateral or an opportunity for the Plaintiff to establish the fair market value of the property at the time of its disposition, since the collateral had been appraised by experts employed by both the Appellant and Respondents.

#### DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

On January 26, 1983, Judge Phillip Fishler entered an Amended Summary Judgment dismissing Plaintiff's Complaint against the individual defendants in this action who had signed a written guarantee of the Promissory Note given by Turtle Management, Inc., to Haggis Management, Inc., as partial consideration for the purchase-sale of The Haggis, a private club in Salt Lake City, Utah. The Amended Summary Judgment did not set forth any reason for dismissal of the complaint (R. p. 435), but the minute entry reflects that the Court ruled, as a matter of law, that the sale of the collateral was not made in a commercially reasonable manner and, therefore, Plaintiff was barred from any deficiency judgment under the rule prescribed in Pioneer Lodge Center vs. Glaubensklee, 649 P. 2d 28 (Utah, 1982).

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant requests that the Amended Summary Judgment of the Trial Court be reversed and this action be remanded for trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an action arising out of the sale of a private club located in Salt Lake City, Utah, on the corner of Fourth South and West Temple. In the spring of 1978, Jeffrey Meacham, approached the Appellant with an offer to buy the private club (R. 362). The actual entity which was going to purchase the club was a corporation which the individual defendants were going to form, known as Turtle Management. The negotiations between the parties culminated in the sale agreement dated July 7, 1978, for the sale of the private club (R. pps. 6-21).

The essential terms of the agreement were that the Respondents would pay to the Appellant \$350,000 for the private club, payable \$100,000 down and the balance of \$250,000 pursuant to a promissory note (R. p. 6). Included in the sale was the assignment of a leasehold interest to the real property (R. p. 20); significant leasehold improvements which cost about \$100,000 to install (R. p. 362), and having a replacement cost of \$250,000 to \$300,000 (R. p. 363); furnishings and equipment (these were the only items in which a security interest was retained and are listed on page 295 and 296 of the record); inventory; a

management contract for 20 years for 10% of the gross receipts (deposition of Terrell Smith, R. pps. 447-55); equipment leases; private club liquor license; approximately 7,000 members and the name and good will of the club.

As stated above, the promissory note was secured only by the equipment and furniture which was located at the business (deposition of J. Meacham, p. 39 and Exhibit 1). In conjunction with the bankruptcy proceeding of Turtle Management, this property was appraised as having a value of \$15,000 if removed from the premises or \$30,000 in place (R. pps. 146, 262). The plaintiff, in computing the amount due on the promissory note credited the defendants with the full \$30,000 value (R. 146). Most, if not all of the collateral is still located at the premises at 4th South and West Temple in Salt Lake City, Utah, and is still subject to inspection or further appraisal.

The three major principals of Turtle Management, Jeffrey Meacham, Stephen McCaughey, and Dan Briggs, jointly and severally guaranteed the promissory note in the sum of \$250,000 (R. pps. 8-10). Pursuant to the terms of the purchase and sale agreement of July 7, 1978, the defendants took possession and began operation of the Haggis Club on or about October 1, 1978.

After acquiring the private club, Turtle Management made substantial changes in the operation and management of the club

which resulted in significant decreases in the gross revenues after September of 1978. This precipitated the filing of an action against Haggis Management and its principals for breach of non-competition agreement and resulting damages. In that action the trial court found a technical breach of the non-competition agreement had occurred in that one of the principals of Haggis Management had worked part time at a private club located at Park City, Utah. The Court found, however, that Turtle Management did not suffer any damages as a result of this breach and awarded nominal damages. This action was appealed to this Court which affirmed the lower court's decision. Turtle Management, Inc. v. Haggis Management, 645 P. 2d 667 (Utah 1982).

In July of 1980, Turtle Management ceased making the monthly installments of \$4,950.25 as required by the Promissory Note and the principal balance of \$167,379.89 minus adjustment for the value of the collateral remains unpaid (R. p. 91). Concurrently therewith, Turtle Management closed the Haggis Club and abandoned the premises. In approximately October of 1980, Turtle Management filed bankruptcy in the United States District Court of Utah.

Immediately prior to the time the private club ceased operation, Turtle Management had ceased making the monthly payments on the lease for the Shubrick Building location, resulting in the lease being in default of approximately \$17,000

(R. p. 352). Also, the principals of Turtle Management, who are also the guarantors and individual defendants in this action, failed to renew the private club liquor license or bring the club into conformance with the Utah State Liquor laws resulting in the private club license lapsing (Deposition of Terrell Smith, p. 25). Since the liquor license had been cancelled the club ceased operations and lost all of its 7,000 members. The Respondents made no further attempt to do anything in regards to the Club or its assets except filing a bankruptcy proceeding for the corporation in October of 1980.

The Trustee in the bankruptcy proceeding, Judith Bolden, Esq., requested that two appraisals be made of the tangible assets which were held as security for the promissory note. The principal due at this time was \$167,379.89. The Respondents obtained an appraisal from The Antiquer valuing the items at approximately \$32,000.00. The defendant, Stephen McCaughey, has a copy of that appraisal in his possession (R. p. 193). Plaintiff-Appellant obtained an appraisal from Joseph Steinblick of Restaurant Store and Equipment Supply valuing the property at \$30,000.00 if left in place on the premises of the Shubrick Building or \$15,000.00 if it was removed and sold (R. p. 354). As a result of the fact that outstanding indebtedness exceeded the value of the assets to such a great extent, the Trustee abandoned

the assets to the Appellant on December 17, 1980.

After the abandonment of the club by the Respondents, the Appellant retook possession of the premises where the private club was operated and decided to restore the premises to its original condition and reopen the club if a new license could be obtained. The Appellants expended an additional \$80,000 restoring the premises and paying back rent (Deposition of Terrell Smith p. 70).

While the Haggis Club was operated by Turtle Management, it had accumulated a record of numerous violations of the Utah Liquor Laws and Regulations. Also, the license which had existed in the old name had been cancelled so the principals of Haggis Management formed a new non-profit corporation in order to apply for the replacement license (Deposition of Terrell Smith, p. 27). The new corporation, Sesize, Inc., applied for the private club liquor license. An application was submitted to the Utah Liquor Control Commission and after a hearing before that body, a new license was issued.

In September of 1980, Haggis Management instituted this action against Turtle Management and the guarantors of the note; Geoffrey Benson, Stephen McLaughlin and Dan Briggs. Judgment was entered against Turtle Management in September of 1980, but the action was interrupted upon the filing of the bankruptcy in

October of 1980. The action proceeded as to the individual guarantors. In December of 1980, Weslee, Inc., obtained the new private club license and began business as "The Fiasco".

The Fiasco was operated throughout the first three quarters of 1981. In the summer of 1981, the decision was made to attempt to resell the club. Inquiries were sent out to potentially interested purchasers (R. p. 255), and eventually the club was sold to a corporation named Chianti Management, Inc., which was operated by some gentlemen who had another private club in Salt Lake City (Deposition of Terrell Smith, pps. 31-33).

The sale agreement to Chianti was executed July 22, 1981. The sale agreement was similar in form to the one utilized with Turtle Management in that the buyer was assigned a lease for the Shubrick Building which had been renegotiated by the Appellant (Deposition of Terrell Smith, p. 40). Also, they received leasehold improvements, assignment of a management contract between the club and the management company, the private club liquor license, a lease and other intangible assets including good will and the name. All of those assets had been acquired after Turtle Management abandoned the club.

In addition to the assets mentioned above, however, the sale to Chianti also included certain equipment and furnishings. These items included such things as tables and equipment used on the



premises as well as decorations and are listed in the Record on pages 295 and 296. It is the disposition of these assets alone that give rise to Respondents' defense to the note.

At the time of the sale of the new club (in that a new liquor license had been obtained) to Chianti, the collateral had been abandoned by the bankruptcy trustee. The Respondents did not receive notice of this sale through inadvertance on the part of the Appellant. Respondents claim more than one sale ocured after their clients abandoned the club, but this issue is not addressed since Appellant concedes that at least one sale ocured.

Pursuant to the Purchase and Sale Agreement between Appellant and Turtle Management of July 7, 1978 (R. p. 6) all notices required relative to the parties' obligations were sent to Turtle Management at 76 West 4th South, Salt Lake City, Utah 84101. This is the address of the bankrupt business.

It is conceded that no notice of the sale to Chianti was sent to the individual guarantors. They had actual knowledge of the abandonment in the Bankruptcy Court (Mr. Meacham signed the Petition for Turtle Management). The assets which were the collateral were listed on Exhibit "A" to the contract (R. p. 16). The rest of the subject matter of the sale (license, lease, membership, etc.) was unsecured. Also, the assets were subject to a lease in favor of the bankrupt corporation (R. p. 11, paragraph

A).

Appellant has acknowledged that Respondents are entitled to a credit for the fair market value of \$30,000.00 (Deposition of Terrell Smith, p. 38). While Mr. Smith testified that it would cost \$400,000 to \$500,000 to recreate this bar, substantially all that would be attributable to the fixtures and improvements (Deposition of Terrell Smith, pps. 36-37) which now are attached to the realty and belong to the landlord. The equipment which the collateral was and is worth its appraised value of \$30,000.00 (Deposition of Terrell Smith, p. 38, R. p. 352).

#### ARGUMENT

##### I

THE COMMERCIAL REASONABLENESS OF DISPOSITION OF COLLATERAL IS A QUESTION OF FACT TO BE GOVERNED BY UCC §§9-504(3) AND 9-507(1), WHICH PRECLUDES SUMMARY JUDGMENT

To sustain the Summary Judgment, entered by the trial court, which dismissed Appellant's case, the pleadings, depositions, affidavits and admissions must demonstrate no genuine issue of material fact. Further, this must be demonstrated while resolving all doubt or uncertainty in favor of the Appellant. Rule 56 U.R.C.P.; Bowen v. Riverton City, 656 P. 2d 434 (Utah, 1982).

To summarize the facts, the record demonstrates the sale of this business to Turtle Management was guaranteed by the

respondents. The original sale price was \$350,000.00 (Deposition of Terrell Smith, p. 34). The collateral in which a security interest was retained at the time of sale was worth about 10% of the sale price (R. p. 352, deposition of Terrell Smith, p. 38, 112). Turtle Management filed bankruptcy and abandoned this collateral to Appellant at the appraised value of \$30,000. No attempt to bid on these items or protect their interests in regards to this disposition appears on behalf of Respondents. Respondents also obtained a professional appraisal (R. p. 107). The Appellant retook possession of the business and rehabilitated it at a cost of about \$80,000 (Deposition of Terrell Smith, p. 70) and obtained a new liquor license and lease. The business was resold later to Chianti Management. The Appellant concedes that Respondents are entitled to credit for the fair market value of the collateral (\$30,000.00), and can establish that value by expert testimony, leaving a principal balance due of \$137,379.89.

The disposition of this case is fully addressed and controlled by §70A-9-507(1), U.C.A. (1953 as amended, 1965) which states:

(1) If it is established that the secured party is not proceeding in accordance with the provisions of this part, disposition may be ordered or restrained on appropriate terms and conditions. If the disposition has occurred the debtor or any person entitled to notification or

whose security interest has been made known to the secured party prior to the disposition has a right to recover from the secured party any loss caused by a failure to comply with the provisions of this part (emphasis added) \* \* \*

This Court has construed §70A-9-507(1) to also require in the case of defective notice of disposition, that the secured party has the burden of proving the fair value of the collateral. Zions First National Bank v. Hurst, 570 P. 2d 103 (Utah, 1977). The overwhelming authority supports this position as cited below.

When the business was resold to Chianti, Appellant neglected to give notice to the guarantors. It was not an intentional omission as suggested by Respondents' counsel but a mistake because they did not know it was required. Neither the Statute nor the Agreement specifically requires such notice and Respondents had already been informed of the abandonment of the collateral by the bankruptcy trustee and obtained an appraisal of the items (R. p. 107). After this action was commenced, Appellant became aware of the requirement to give notice of the disposition to the guarantors that was mandated in F.M.A. Financial Corp. v. Pro Printers, 590 P. 2d 803 (Utah 1979)

The lower court, citing Pioneer Dodge Center v. Glaubensklce, 649 P. 2d 29 (Utah, 1982) held that if there was no notice then the secured party is automatically barred from any recovery whatsoever regardless of the market value of the collateral. It

is in fact, the imposition of strict liability on the secured party contrary to §70A-9-507(1), U.C.A. (1953, as amended, 1965) contrary to the separation of powers reserved to the legislature in Article V and VI of the Constitution of Utah; and contrary to Zions First National Bank v. Hurst, 507 P. 2d 1031 (Utah 1977).

Respondents cite several cases in which deficiency judgments were denied the secured party after a trial. No case cited supports the position taken by the trial court that if no notice is given no deficiency can ever be recovered. Further, the Utah cases relied upon by Respondents do not address the situation present in this case, where the secured party is prepared, through expert appraisals, to establish the fair market value of the collateral.

In Pioneer Dodge Center v. Glaubenskiee, 649 P. 2d 29 (Utah, 1982), a deficiency was barred in the unreasonable disposition of a used car after trial. This decision does not indicate any attempt on behalf of the secured party to establish the fair market value of the collateral. Further, to compare the disposition of a used car loan (where the loan proceeds usually are 100% committed to the purchase of the collateral and which has a definite market and method of resale) to the resale of equipment (worth 10% of the note proceeds) partially securing the proceeds of the sale of a private liquor club, is illogical.

Respondents have also relied on F.M.A. Financial Corporation v. Pro Printers, 369 P. 2d 803 (Utah, 1979); Chrysler Credit Corp. v. Burns, 562 P. 2d 233 (Utah 1977); and Strevell Patterson Co., v. Francis, 649 P. 2d 741 (Utah 1982). Again, none of these cases address the situation where the secured party establishes the fair market value of the collateral and obtains a judgment after credit for that value has been allowed to the judgment debtor. None of these cases assert that, if there is no notice to guarantors, as a matter of law, no deficiency is recoverable.

The issue of what, if any, setoff is due the debtor when the collateral is sold without notice has been addressed by this Court in Zions First National Bank v. Hurst, 570 P. 2d 1031 (Utah, 1977). Failure of a creditor to give notices does not preclude him from obtaining a deficiency judgment. In the Zions case, which was also against guarantors, this Court stated at page 1033:

\* \* \* More importantly, the usual rule is that failure to so notify does not release the debtor from any deficiency (emphasis added), but upon such failure he may get credit for (or recover) only for any loss caused by the failure to so notify (citing 70A-9-507 U.C.A., 1953). In that connection inasmuch as the airplanes sold for \$72,500, they would have to have brought nearly three times that amount, that is \$200,000 or more, before the proceeds therefrom would have relieved the defendant of any liability under this guaranty. We are not persuaded that there has been any substantial and prejudicial error or that any injustice has resulted in holding him to his agreement.

Nothing could be closer to this factual situation than the facts

in Zions, supra. In this action, the collateral would have to have been sold for over five times its appraised value. What Appellant urges is the opportunity to establish their case and that no injustice would be suffered by the Respondents, albeit that they would have to stand by their original promise. Besides the pronouncement in Zions, supra, and the requirements of §70A-9-507(1) U.C.A. (1953) this Court affirmed this position after its decision in F.M.A. v. Pro Printers, 590 P. 2d 803 (Utah, 1979). In Utah Bank and Trust v. Quinn, 622P. 2d 793 (Utah 1980) any apparent conflict between the Zions and F.M.A. cases was resolved in favor of the position taken here by Appellant at page 796:

Zions First National Bank v. Hurst, Utah 570 P. 2d 1032 (1977), has been cited as holding that the failure to give notice does not prevent the granting of a deficiency judgment.

\* \* \*

However, this Court's decision in FMA Financial Corp. v. Pro Printers, Utah, 590 P. 2d 803 (1979), has been cited for exactly the opposite rule. In the FMA case no notice had been given. The finder of fact concluded no commercially reasonable sale had been held. The inventory had been sold for a fraction of what it was worth on the books of all concerned and it was sold at a private sale with three bidders. Two of the bidders were what is referred to as "accommodation bidders," persons bidding with no real intention of making a purchase, and a third bidder anticipated an immediate profit on resale. While the FMA case does not contain language susceptible of the interpretation that a failure to give notice of the pending sale precluded any deficiency, the Court did not stop its

inquiry after recognizing the failure to give written notice. The Court considered the issue of whether the sale had been conducted and in a commercially reasonable fashion. In that case, there is also circumstantial evidence that the inventory was in fact of a value equal to or greater than the debt. Our analysis of many of the apparent conflicting holdings in other jurisdictions finds similar implications. It is noted that there must be some basis in fact for the presumption indulged that the security has a value equal to or greater than the debt.

\* \* \*

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