1984

**Haggis Management, Inc. v. Turtle Management, Inc., Jeffrey Meacham, Stephen Mccaughey And Dan Lee Briggs :
Respondent's Brief**

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

Then, in Utah Bank and Trust, supra, this Court discussed a refined position on the no notice, no deficiency rule. In that case, a father guaranteed certain obligations of his son which were secured by "exotic" cars. When the son defaulted, the father agreed that the Bank could place the cars on used car lots to be sold individually. The cars were advertised in local newspapers and the father even signed off on some of the titles when requested to do so. The proceeds were applied to the debt and a deficiency resulted. The father challenged the deficiency on the grounds of no notice and commercial unreasonableness in disposing of the collateral, but, under those facts, this Court upheld the deficiency and discussed in depth the manner in which §70A-9-504(3), supra, has been applied.

The Court first noted the following three positions as to the effect of failure to give notice under the Commercial Code.

1. Where there is no notice, there can be no deficiency judgment.
2. Failure to give notice puts the burden of proof on the creditor to show that the sale of collateral took place in a commercially reasonable manner.

3. Where there is a failure to give notice, a rebuttable presumption arises that the collateral had a value equal to, or greater than, the debt. Id. at 796.

In Utah Bank and Trust, supra, the Court held, under the facts of that case, the "no notice, no deficiency" rule was not applicable, but noted that in FMA Financial Corp., supra, even though no notice was given to the debtor, the decision not to grant a deficiency judgment was also based on the fact that sale of the collateral was not conducted in a commercially reasonable manner and that there was evidence that the collateral was of a value equal to, or greater than, the debt. Id. at 796. In any event, Appellant's reliance on Utah Bank and Trust, supra, is misplaced given the fact differences between that case and the case presently before the Court.

After Utah Bank and Trust, supra, this Court in the case of Strevell Paterson Co., Inc. v. Francis, 646 P.2d 741 (Utah, 1982), elaborated in dicta the significance of the holding in FMA Financial Corp., supra, and the importance of the notice requirement imposed upon the creditor -- especially in cases of private sales.

In Pro-Printers [FMA Financial], we barred a deficiency judgment against guarantors where the creditor already had repossessed the secured property and sold it at a private sale in a manner which was not commercially reasonable. The creditor had failed to give the guarantors notification of the sale, making it impossible for them to protect their subrogation rights and other interest in the outcome of the sale. The rule in Pro-Printers defines the duties of creditors

who repossess collateral. Id. at 743. [Emphasis added].

In the case presently before the Court, there were three private sales and the guarantors were not notified of any. Consequently, "it was impossible for them to protect their subrogation rights and other interests in the outcome of the sale[s]". Id. (Brackets added)

The Appellant relies extensively upon Clark Leasing Corporation v. White Sands Forest Products, Inc., 87 N.M. 451, 535 P.2d 1077 (1975), claiming that Utah Bank and Trust, supra, and the "vast majority of states" adopted the rule pronounced in Clark Leasing, supra. That case points out the Uniform Commercial Code's two requirements in the disposition of collateral after a repossession: The first is that notice be given to the debtor; and the second is that the sale must be commercially reasonable in all respects, including method, manner, time, place and terms. Both of these requirements are meant to see that a reasonable price is received for the collateral and to protect the debtor against any unfairly low price. Likewise, the holdings in those cases are not contrary to the Trial Court's decision in this case.

Most recently, this Court in Pioneer Dodge Center, Inc., v. Glaubensklee, 649 P.2d 88 (Utah, 1982), reversed the trial court's entry of a deficiency judgment for the creditor and held as a matter of law that where there was not a commercially

reasonable sale then the creditor is not entitled to a deficiency judgment. This Court succinctly stated:

Because the sale in the instant case was not conducted in a commercially reasonable manner, plaintiff is barred from obtaining a deficiency judgment. Id. at 31.

The issue then becomes: "Was the sale, or more accurately were the sales commercially unreasonable as a matter of law given the fact that Appellant has admitted that no notice of any of the three transfers of the collateral was ever given to the Respondents?"

POINT II

APPELLANT'S DISPOSITION OF THE COLLATERAL IN QUESTION WAS COMMERCIALY UNREASONABLE AS A MATTER OF LAW

In spite of the arguments contained in Appellant's Brief, its disposition of the collateral in question was commercially unreasonable as a matter of law. It is undisputed that Appellant did not give any notice of the three transfers of the collateral; it is also undisputed that it did not advertise any of the three transfers and it received no consideration for either of the first two transfers.

Of most importance is the fact that the Appellant itself has admitted the unreasonable nature of the disposition of the collateral when it requested the following of the Trial Court in its Supplemental Motion to Vacate Summary Judgment (Record 389-379; see also Appendix to this Brief)

Plaintiff moves this court that a sale be held in a reasonable manner within 30 days. [Emphasis added]

Section 70A-9-504(3), supra, imposes two obligations and one restriction on the secured creditor. First he must notify the debtor of any intended disposition of the collateral. In this case, it is admitted that no notice was given to any of the guarantors or their counsel of any of the three sales. Secondly, the secured party must be certain that every aspect of the disposition be commercially reasonable. Third, while a secured party may purchase the collateral at a public sale, he may not buy at a private sale unless the collateral is of such nature as to allow its value to be easily ascertainable.

. . . The secured party may buy at any public sale and if the collateral is of a type customarily sold in a recognized market or is of a type which is the subject of widely distributed standard price quotations he may buy at a private sale. Id.

The commercially reasonable public sale of §70A-9-504, supra, was recently defined by this Court in Pioneer Dodge, supra:

. . . A public sale after default "has traditionally meant 'a sale in which the public, upon proper notice, is invited to participate and given full opportunity to bid upon a competitive basis for the property placed on sale, which is sold to the highest bidder.'" (Citations) . . . The requirement of a public invitation is essential for a public sale under the Uniform Commercial Code. (Citations) . . . It is fundamental that a public sale presupposes posting public notices or advertising. (Citations) . . . The Restatement of Security §48 comment (1941) defines a public sale as "one to which the public is invited by advertisement to appear and bid at auction for the goods to be sold". . . .

Presumably the essence of a 'public sale' is that the relevant public is not only invited to attend but is also informed, by whatever means of publicity may be appropriate, when and where the sale is to be held. If the sale has not been appropriately publicized, it would not be a public sale no matter where it was held or how it was conducted. Id. at 30. [Emphasis added]

In Pioneer Dodge, supra, the secured party gave notice of the intended sale to the debtor and then took the collateral, a truck, to five or six other dealers and obtained oral bids. It was also offered to wholesalers. Several days later, it announced over a loudspeaker at its place of business that the sale of the truck was about to take place at auction. The secured party bought the truck. In reversing a deficiency judgment against the debtor as a matter of law, this Court held:

These efforts did not give reasonable notice to that part of the public which would likely be interested in the sale. Id. at 31.

It is also interesting to note that the Court in this case cited FMA Financial Corp., supra, with approval and barred the deficiency judgment solely on the grounds that the sale was conducted in a commercially unreasonable manner.

It is impossible to conceive how any of the three transfers made by Appellant were done under the auspices of a commercially reasonable sale. The transfers of the club and its assets from Haggis, Inc., to Eelsew, an association, then to Eelsew, Inc., a corporation, and then to Chianti, Inc., entities separate and distinct from Appellant, were devoid of public notice. None of

the three guarantors or their counsel received any notice of any of the three dispositions. There were no invitations to, nor opportunity for, the general public to bid competitively. Moreover, the first two transfers were made without consideration, surely an element of any commercially reasonable sale -- public or private. One cannot argue that the sale without consideration of the club and its assets from Appellant to Eelsew to Eelsew, Inc., comports with commercial reasonableness, when, but two years earlier, Appellant had sold the club to Turtle Management, Inc., for \$350,000. It is now not justifiable to allow Appellant to claim that these transfers were only for convenience inasmuch as the title to the club and assets passed by virtue of the transactions thereby diluting, if not entirely eliminating, any chance of the Respondents to protect their rights in the collateral.

The third transfer from Eelsew, Inc., to Chianti, Inc, was, as with the others, made without notice to the Respondents and without benefit of advertisement or public auction. Appellant, like the creditor in Pioneer Dodge, supra, did not give notice to that part of the general public who might be interested in the purchase of restaurant and private club equipment. In fact, Appellant did not formally solicit bids from anyone but Chianti, Inc. (RECORD pg. 255, 261), thereby excluding any other prospective buyers who could have increased the bidding price.

A commercially reasonable public sale is required to ensure a proper disposition of the assets at a fair and correct price as was stated in FMA Financial Corp., supra:

The purpose of the notice requirement is for the protection of the debtor, by permitting him to bid at the sale, or arrange for interested parties to bid, and to otherwise assure that the sale is conducted in a commercially reasonable manner. The danger resulting from not notifying the debtor of the sale of secured property is that the property may be sold for an amount unreasonably below its market value, burdening the debtor with liability for the deficiency. Ironically, the notice requirement acts to the secured party's advantage; if the debtor helps secure a higher sale price the secured party is benefitted, because the prospect of recovering any deficiency is usually dubious. Id. at 807.

Appellant's refusal to give Respondents or any part of the general public or the business community an opportunity to bid on the assets was in direct violation of the standards imposed by Pioneer Dodge, supra, and, therefore, commercially unreasonable as a matter of law.

Section 70A-9-504, Utah Code Ann., (1953), also permits a secured party to purchase collateral at a private sale but only if the collateral is of a type customarily sold in a recognized market or of a type which is the subject of widely distributed standard price quotations. This is for the protection of the debtor to assure arm's-length transactions in the sale of the collateral and to permit the debtor to test the fairness of the sale by comparison of the price paid by the secured party to standard price quotations. The characterization of collateral as of a type customarily sold in a recognized market or the subject

of widely-distributed, standard-price quotations cannot apply to an ongoing business of a private liquor club. Even Appellant admits in its Brief, page 16, that a private club is an unusual item "much like the exotic cars in Utah Bank and Trust v. Quinn . . ." Appellant also admits that Eelsew and Eelsew, Inc., were associations of the Appellant's principals and that the collateral was privately transferred to those associations.

The facts of this case are very similar to the facts of Jackson State Bank v. Beck, 577 P.2d 168 (Wyo., 1978), where the Wyoming Supreme Court affirmed a trial court's summary judgment barring a secured creditor's claim for a deficiency judgment. In that case, the Bank gave notice to the debtor that it intended to conduct a private sale of the automobiles it had earlier repossessed. Thereafter, the Bank consummated the sale by making an entry on its books that \$50,000 had been applied as a credit towards the principal obligation. The Bank then concluded it could not legally enter into the automobile business and, therefore, transferred the collateral to a corporation formed and managed by two officers of the Bank. The collateral was ultimately liquidated in that business for \$18,000.

In holding for the debtor, the Court noted that the critical issue was whether or not the secured creditor had complied with the requirements of §34-21-963(c) W.S.A., (1977), [§70A-9-504(3) Utah Code Ann. (1953)] regardless of its motive. It concluded

that it had not because of the way it had disposed of the collateral.

We would make the point that a secured creditor who purchases the collateral from himself, unless he can bring himself within the "recognized market" or "standard price quotation" exceptions, is in the same direct violation of the requirements of the statute as is the creditor who fails to give notice. Id. at 170.

In the case before this Court, Appellant did not give notice as was done in Jackson State Bank, supra. It transferred the "unique" collateral privately twice unilaterally giving Respondents a credit of approximately \$30,000 on the principal debt. It then sold privately to a third person again without notice to Respondents all in violation of §70A-9-504(3), supra.

In summary, the reason the Trial Court concluded that Appellant's disposition of the collateral was commercially unreasonable as a matter of law was that the Appellant did absolutely nothing it was required to do, either under the Commercial Code or under the cases of this Court, interpreting those provisions. It did not give notice to any of the guarantors or their counsel; it privately transferred the collateral, which was unique in nature, first to Eelsew, the association, then to Eelsew, Inc., the corporation, and then, finally, to Chianti, Inc., a corporation; it did not formally advertise any of the sales; it did not solicit bids; and the public was not "invited to participate upon a competitive basis for the property placed on sale", Pioneer Dodge, supra, at 30,

and it unilaterally determined the credit that was to be given Respondents.

Appellant claims that the issue of commercial reasonableness of the disposition of the collateral is a factual issue and not proper for resolution by summary judgment. That claim flies directly in the face of the undisputed facts set forth above. Appellant cannot point to even one act on its part which would fulfill any one of the requirements imposed upon it by the Commercial Code in connection with the disposition of the collateral. That conclusion is further clearly supported by Appellant's Supplemental Motion to Vacate Summary Judgment, which shows the true nature of Appellant's handling of the collateral.

The Trial Court concluded that the "gerrymandering" of the collateral by Appellant was not to be tolerated and the undisputed blatant disregard of the obligations imposed upon it under the Commercial Code were of such a nature as to require the conclusion that the disposition of the collateral was commercially unreasonable as a matter of law.

POINT III

THIS COURT MAY AFFIRM A TRIAL COURT'S DECISION
UPON ANY CORRECT BASIS WHETHER OR NOT THAT
BASIS WAS RELIED UPON BY THE TRIAL COURT.

In Goodsel v. Department of Business Regulations, 523 P.2d 1230 (Utah, 1974), the trial court granted a Summary Judgment and declared certain portions of the Plumbers Registration and

License Law unconstitutional. In affirming the trial court's decision, this Court cited with approval 5 C.J.S., Appeal and Error, §1464, and stated:

The appellate court will affirm the judgment, order or decree appealed from if it is sustainable on any legal ground or theory apparent on the record, even though such ground or theory differs from that stated by the trial court to be the basis of its ruling or action, and this is true even though such ground or theory is not urged or argued on appeal by appellee, was not raised in the lower court, and was not considered or passed on by the lower court. Id. at 1232.

Therefore, if the trial court reaches the correct result in its decision even though there was another basis for it not relied on by the court below, then the Appellate Court will affirm.

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